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[1] This is an appeal against a decision of the High Court (Datt J) handed down 

on 13 February 2009 .. The Court awarded judgment to the Respondent in 

respect of his claim for wrongful dismissal and ordered the Appellants to pay 

to the Respondent special damages and int~rest in the sum of $484.22, 



gene,-al clcirrlci\Je:s ancl interest in U1c" smn of $14,7.00.0CJ ancl co~;is in the ~::iuIr1 

of $2,000.00. The Court clismissed the R(':Spondent's claim for darnages fo,­

defamation. 

[2] The background may be stated briefly. The Respondent had been employed 

by the First Appellant (Shell) as a cl1-iver for ove,- 20 years. He delivered fuel 

to customers in the western side of Viti Levu between Vucla and Rakiraki. 

Allegations of misconduct wer-e made against the Respondent in that he 

under supplied and wrongfully supplied fuel to customer-s. In other words, 

the allegations related to fraudulent deliveries. Simila 1- allegations were also 

made against other drivers employed by Shell. · Shell commenced an 

investigation into the delivery prncedLffes and documentation. 

[3] 13y letter- dated 4 February 2002 the Respondent was info1·med by 

Shell's Oper·ations Manager-, the Second Appellant (Filipe) that: 

"!Foffffowfog oOJJr dlffscf!,JJSSfo/17/s this mon1i1111g frg respecil" @f owr 
i11n1estigafl:ions itrnfl:o ftra11.u:Juffeliilt deliveries i:o v.JJtrious 
customers of Sheff§ Fiji /Ltd in the west, you are hereby 
susperuleirl from ta1111ketr driving duties to allow 
investigations to conf'imue ur»impeded. I also confirm that 
affterrmtive duties will be assigned to yrnr.u in the mearntime. 

In recognffftiolTI l[Jlf youtr wiili81lgness to cooperate, 1 also 
confirm that your suspension ftrom ciriving shall be for a 
duv-atfr:m of two (2) weeks. This is ample time fotr you to 
demonstrate yowr cooperation to enable the allegafl:fons 
against yoursefff' to be tabled to dear your involvement. 
However, should more evidence be discovered in 
conjunction . with other external investigations that 
implicate your involvement: then Shell shall have no option 
but to first" suspend you from employment immediately. 

Should you have relevant inforrnatfr:m to the investigation, 
please contact myself or the Terminal Manager 
immediately. As a long serving employee of Shell, 1 am 
confident that you togf;ther with Shell have your best 
interests to consider through having this mai'ters 
resolved." 
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[4] .Then by an internal memorandum dated 13 February 2002 from Filipe the 

Respondent was advised that: 

"Following our meeting on February 4 th at Vuda. with the 
Terminal Manager and the Internal Auditor over fuel 
delivery shortages to Govt., you expressed willingness to 
cooperate and to assist in further details of widespread 
non fuel deliveries to specific customers. At that same 
discussion l also advised you that SF/I.. was worl<ing closely 
with Govt auditorrs in establishing the specific days of non 
deliverry of fuels and the storemen implicated in this. 

The infonru.ttion that have been established so far is 
enough to warrant your suspension from duties 
immediately t·o enable investigations to be coonpleted amd 
without interfetrence. Effective imn1Jediately you are 
suspended without pay forr an indefinite period and you 
will be · advised as soon as investigaf'ions are completed 
with Govt audifl:otrs as well as with · othetr Customers 
affecfl:ed." 

[5] By letter dated 26 February 2002 the Respondent was informed that the 

investigation had confirmed his involvement. The letter stated: 

11As adv,ised to you following ow· meeting on Monday, 
February tl" which resulted in your indefinite suspension 
without pay, Shell was going to continue with Jt·s 
investigations into your involvement with fraudulent 
deliveries of fuel orders to unauthorised custome,·s and 
without authorised documentations. · 
In our joint investigations with PWD/Govt auditors, a list 

. of fuel delivery shortages have been confirmed to the day 
on which you had been the nominated driver to make the 
deliveries. It should also be pointed out that some of the 
deliveries were to customers other than PWD which were 
not delivered in full. There is overwhelming evidence t·o 
confirm your involvement and it is in this context· that I 
will highlight some of the exarnples to demonstrate the 
fraudulent delivery process. 

The evidence . were compiled from trip records., RIED 1 
process and JDE system. 
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Y) Wh,wd» :Jl. 6i 2JJ!OJ ;· On a D.1<i-JJ#iv<e!rV f:rff p, fo Pl/1/D /R'akfr·rr»fd~ 
you made a sllu1ri' delivery of 1 ()(JOO ff itnes diesel, mM1 
this was subsequently delivered unauthorised cm same 
day to Ba Bridge SS. 

2) August: 10 2001 : On a delivery trip to PWD Rakiral<i, 
you made a short delivery of 10(WO litres diesel, and 
this was subsequently delivered unauff:horised on same 
day to Ba Bridge SS. · 

3) December 24 2001 : On a deffiveny «:rip to /Ba and 
/Rakiralci, you /had swrp§us dieseff in the t1r1U1ck after 
mal<ing the deliveries (which was advised to Vuda by 
PWD Rakitraki). You also claimed that you spoke to 
Mereseini Waqa about the swpffus f1U1el, however, she 
was cm anu11Mal leave U.:hafl: day. Yo/UJ have not aiccou.mtted 
forr t!he SIUIHpffags hml in your last/: ioJtetrview. 

The above aJre jl!JlsU.: some of the specifics that we have otrn 
fife from the jofr»tt investigattions. It is very disappofr»ftirr»g 
mud sad thatt a serr»for employee such as yourself will:h over 
20 yearrs service co1UJld involve yoursefff in this deffiven-y 
fu"arm:11 with ow· customers. It also puts your daugh'terr's 
employme1111'ff: wifl:fn Shelf att risl<, a,m:J depending 0011 yowr 
u-espo1111:se, Sheffff reserves the right to exercffse termination. 

You have 2 weeks Ito refute these charges a1111d tto 
demonstrate tl:o Shel§ why your empUoyment conttracf· 
should nofl: bie tJ:ermffnalJ:ed. 

1-Uter this grace period, Shell wiffl proceed with Civil and 
Criminal cowrt acttion agaii11stl: you. 

Sl11011.lffd you wish to discuss the case in ccmfidence, pffease 
contact the Tetrmfrml Manager." 

This letter was signed by Filipe. It was cc copied to Rupeni Inoke, Shell's 

Manager at Vuda Point (Inoke). 

[6] In a letter dated 28 February 2002 the Solicitors instructed by the 

Respondent (and other d1-ivers) indicated that the Respondent denied the 

allegations without going into any details. 
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[7] l:'iy · letie1 dated 18 March 2002 thee' F{c~;pondcnt wa:c; advisee! U-wt his 

employment with Shell had been terminated. The lette1- stated: 

"In our leU.:er dated February 26th of Shell's intention to 
terminate yotuJr employmerd contract on fraudulent 
deliveries to customersr you Viff:!Jre given a grace period of 2 
weeks as an oppoirtt'urraity t:o refute i:he charges outlined 
therein. 

11111 view of your non response to the chargesr )[ Unerefon.: 
have rw aU:ernaf·ive but· to advise of the terrrn1inati<On of 
your employment con(f:tract effective March 18th

• Sheff§ wm 
proceed 11:o purslf.Be off:hier Jega;§ avenues to reccwen- cosa·s fru 
Hos£· fueR emam,ating from (the 'lfuaDJ1duffeJrflf· deliveries. rr 

This letter was also signed by Filipe and cc copied to Inoke. 

[8] On 13 February 2002, in addition to sending the internal memorandum to the 

Respondent, Filipe also adckessed a notice to all staff in the following terms: 

"!following (t/h,e su1spemsfon of 2 cfrff~ten"'S on /Felbrl!Jlau]f 4/.1\ 1 
now advise that a thitrd driver has beer» suspended 
indefinitely wittwuf.· pay effective i'odlay. The drrivers haire 
been suspended fou· trwn-delivetry of fuel m·dens to specific 
cus(tomers. Invesrtigafl:fons are on·~goia119 and we hope to 
hm1e these cond11.ulecll soon. 

The suspetrulled drive,rs ame /!3en Johnson, Vijay Verma and 
Ram Murti. 

A fourth d.rive11· (Supreme) is currently assisting in 'i:he 
investigations and lhias provided writtten atrnd signed 
stari:e1nents." 

It would appear that this notice was circulated to employees by e-mail. 

[9] It was this notice and the letter dated 26 February 2002 that formed the 

basis of the claim for damages for defamation. 

[10] In the statement of claim the Respondent pleaded that his employment had 

been unlawfully terminated. He claimed that he had commenced 
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ernployrneni: with the 1:irst /\ppellant in [VJay l9i32 and that he was can1ing an 

annual sala1·y of $18,000 as a drive,- at the time when his employment Wc.1S 

terminated. He also claimed that the,·e we,·e social consequences as a result 

of the termination and that he had been unable to "secure employment 

pa1i:icularly in conformity of his employment with the (First Appellant) at the 

material time." He claimed special damages of $18,000.00 per annum from 

18 March 2002. 

[11] In relation to the claim for damages fo1· defamation the Respondent pleaded 

that he was at the time a well respected membe1· of the community in the 

Western Division and c;Jmongst the wo1·ke1·s and employees of Shell and that 

he had ,·espect, status and standing in the community. 

[12] The Respondent claimed that the wo,·ds used in the two offending documents 

in thei1· material natui-al and ordina,·y meaning meant and were understood 

to mean: 

"(i) 7rluJJ£· the JPUaffu71U:ff'fff had been·» guiUtty of disUu:mest and/ 
ftrauduffenft coru:fluct. 

(iii) Thad!:. the /Plaff111tl:ffff could mot !be f:n..usfted. 

(i!iff) ThiJJfl: Une Plaintiff was noft worthy 'U:o be employed as 
a servatrni·. 

(hr) That the Plainf'iff was part: of a conspiracy to 
systematically defrnmd his employer. 

(v) That t:he Plaint.Hf had commffUed crin1111inaff acts 
involving fraud and dishonesty." 

[13] The Respondent claimed that in consequence of the said words he was 

greatly injured in his credit, character and reputation. He claimed general 

damages (including aggravated, exemplary and punitive damages). 
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[14] ln Uir:: amr~ncled Defence:' the /\ppcllani::J cle11iccl tlk1i_ the t(::ITllil1dtio11 of 

employment was unlawful. 

[15] In relation to the claim fo1- damages for- defamation the Appellants claimed 

that the wo1-ds complained of in the cor-respondence did not bear and were 

not understood to bear and we1-e not capable of bearing the meanings 

claimed by the Respondent and were not defamato1-y to the Respondent. 

They also denied that the allegations made against the Respondent were 

false and malicious. They also relied upon the defence that the two items 

of correspondence were published on an occasion of qualified privilege. 

[16] The Appellants also counterclaimed for damages and loss suffered due to the 

fraudulent conversion of petroleum and petroleum products by the 

Respondent. 

[17] In the P1-e-Trial Conference Minutes dated 7 Mar-ch 2008, it was ag1-eed 

between the pa1-ties that at the mate1-ial time the Respondent was employed 

by the First Appellant at an annual salary of $16,160.00. It was also agreed 

that the /.\ppellants wrote the letter dated 26 February 2002 and sent a copy 

to Rupeni Inoke and also that the Appellants published to all staff the 

correspondence dated 13 February 2002. Both items of correspondence 

were published of and concerning the Respondent. It was also agreed that: 

Shell had terminated the Respondent's employment in March 2002. 

[18] At the hearing of the action the counterclaim was by consent withdrawn. 

Filipe, who had been at the material time Shell's operations manager, did not 

participate in the proceedings. 

[19] After a detailed consideration of the evidence and careful analysis of the legal 

principles involved the learned trial judge found that the First Appellant had 

breached the implied term of employment in that it failed to either make 

payment in lieu of notice or give the Respondent one week's notice. He 

considered that the Plaintiff was entitled to one week's wages in lieu of 
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notice, plus intere:ist. J.n reaching that conclusion His Lo,-dsliip had found that 

the Respondent's misconduct was not of the kind that provided Shell the 

right to summarily dismiss the Respondent. In addition, the trial judge 

awarded the sum of $10,000 by way of general damages as a global figure 

which included an amount for loss of wages for the period when the 

Respondent was wrongfully suspended. 

[20] As a result the ~espondent was awarded one week's wages of $341.00 

together with interest at 6% being $143.22 for a total of $484.22 as special 

damages. He was also awarded $10,000.00 general damages with interest 

at 6% being $4,200.00 for a total of $14,200.00 as general damages. The · 

total award was ~~14,684.22.22. The Appellants subsequently appealed to 

this Court. 

[2.l] In relation to the defamation claim the learned judge found that the 

Respondent had failed to establish any of the imputations against the 

Appellants. He indicated that the Respondent had failed to establish 

publication of the email communication dated 13 February 2002 to all staff. 

[22] He also concluded that, had the Respondent succeeded in establishing any of 

the alleged imputations in respect of the letter dated 26 February 2002 

copied to the Vuda Point Manager, the defence of qualified privilege would 

have applied. As a result he dismissed the claim for damages for 

defamation. 

[23] The Respondent subsequently filed a notice pursuant to Rule 19 of the Court 

of Appeal Rules. 

[24] The Appellants seek an order that the judgment be set aside in so far as it 

. relates to the finding of wrongful dismissal and that the claim for damages 

for wrongful dismissal be dismissed with costs. The grounds of the appeal 

are as follows: 
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fff1rwYin9 v.:hai: i:hec·e was fi/O paymeHt nli.:u:Jle to the 
Respmufenff: at the time of the dismissal and did not 
give any consideration to the Appellant's case when 
the Respondent did notl: recall whether he was paid oir 
not:. 

2. The le.aimed Trial Judge erred in law and in fact in not 
appffying the principles of the leading case of Yashni 
Kant which has set ou'i: the criteria of wrongful 
dismissal in /Fiji. The /Learned Trial Judge erred in law 
and in fact fr» awarding damages against Urn 
Appellants when he faiffed to apply the correct 
principles whiffstt assessirng damages for wnYngful 
dismissal. The Appellarcfl: gaive 1 (one) weefff's uwtice 
fr» ffireu of JI. ( ouu,~) weeffi's wages. 

3. The teau»ed TrfaR Jl!.u:ffgie correctly h!effd fllnat the 
Respondent failed t<0 respond to the al!egatirnrns put to 
him by the AppeUlmnt BUT the Trial .Judge erred in law 
and in fiiJ!d· in wrongful§y awarding damages which 
were exoe:ssiive by any sftamriards. 

4/.. The /Leamrned Trffaff Judge failed i:o U:ake into account 
and 9ffve a1111y weig!hfl: to Uie Appe§ffant properly carrying 
ou!" its own investigation before dismissing the 
/Respondent. The Triaiff Jl1U1dge failed IJ:o consider thatt 
the Appellant acted reasonably in dismissing the 
Respondent:. The questtion was not whether the 
Resporu:len'fl: was guilty but whethep· the Appellm11ft' had 
reasonable grounds hJ /believe tha(t the Respondent 
had comnrnitted the offence ancl whether the 
Respondent had offered any reasonable explanation. 

5. The !Learned Trial .Judge erred in law in awarding such 
damages hJ the Respcmdent when the Respondent's 
claim for relief sol!.Hg!ht was inadequate and vague. 

6. The 8..eanrned Trial .Judge made serious errors of law in 
nott properly dealing with the summary dismissal 
under the provisions of the Employment Act. 

7. The leanned Trial .Judge foiled to give any reasons 
when awarding damages in t:he sum of $10,000.00 as 
there was not any evidence called to substantiate this 
award am:J the Learned Judge was wrong in arriving ai" 
the said amount." 
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[25] In his l'·Jol:ice fik:_:ci Oli 20 /\1xil 200'.J the Respondent co11te1,dccl that the 

decision of the High Court should be va,·ied so as to inuease the quantum of 

damages awarded. The Respondent also contended that the decision be 

varied so as to allow the claim for defamation and for damages to be 

awa,·ded to the Respondent, otherwise the appeal should be dismissed. The 

grnunds of his contentions we,·e that: 

"1. Tine /Lem·fT//etdl Trial J!udge enred in laJw and in fact in nwt 
applying and/ or properly applying t.ltne conrect 
principles applkabfo 01111 the law of defamalftfon reffevantt 
to tthe CQ.a1ffms by Une /Respondeni:. 

2~ The /Leau-1111edf Trffii1ff Jucd9e eJr1Ted fo law and/ fr» fac'd: in 
Uwfflffffo'ng tth;111.- t!heu·o was trllO mrideHi1ce of pufhfffr:atfon of 
it/he emaiff dafted 13t.h !Febn.Han"'Jlr 2.002 as ,required itrn U:he 
law of defii1imalitfon11 in as m1U1ch as there were evidence 
of the sau1111e and/ itlhiat was admitted fftrll the pleadings 
and tlfne !Pn-e·-TriaH Comferefiice iilHUi fro evidleo11ce in Courft. 

3. The /Leaiu»edl 1iriaH J1JJ1dge en·ed in law an1dl in fillet fro rrnot 
properffy ,:11nJJrdl/ m· aideqLJateHy applyirng t!he principles of 
pubfficaa·fow» as regawd:s the principles of pll.!l!IJHicatfo!I] in 
law as 1regauis (l:J-ne law of defoimafl:fon • 

4t. The LeatrtrJJ~HJ Trial Judge eu·red fro law and in facft fro natt 
holding that!: U»e ffetterr dated 26th day of !February was 
defamarU.:ory and '11:foat there was not sufficient evidence 
as to p1U1b!ireaJU:ion1 U»ereof as required/ by the law of 
defamatfr:»fT//. 

5. The learned Triaff Judge erred in law and in fact in not 
propetrlir amd/or adequately applying the principles of 
qualified/ ptrffvilege in the law of defamation and/ or i111 
applyitrng i!.:hose principles in the circumstances of ithe 
case. 

6. "fhe learned 7/"rial Judge erred in law and in fact ire uwt 
awarding damages for termiruation of the employment 
of the Respondemff: as t:o the manner of dismissal 
and/ oir the implied breach of terms of employmenU:. 

7. Thai: the learned Trial Judge erred in law and in fact 
in not- properly and/ or adequately considering t'he 
evidence of the Respondent on the one hand and t'hat 
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fd' N1,0 App(aufont 011-; td'i'(;;~ 0Ui10w having rcg;,)r'd fo fh:.:c 
relevant dn::umsi:aru:::es. 

B. That the decision of the Learned Trial Judge as 
regards the Claim fotr defamation is unreasonable 
hmting regard to the evidence as a whole." 

[26] We propose to deal fi1-st with the Appellants' appeal _agai11st the decision of 

the High Court that the Respondent had been wrongfully dismissed. If 

necessary, we shall then consider the quantum of damages. Finally we shall 

consider the Respondent's contention that the judgment should be varied 

and that an award of damage for defamation should be made. 

[27] The Appellants' grounds are concerned with the trial judge's conclusion that 

the Respondent had been wrongfully dismissed and with the quantum of 

damages that were awarded by the Court as a result of that finding. 

[28] At the outset we have no hesitation in stating our agreement with the 

learned judge that the termination of employment was by way of summary 

dismissal. The termination letter was dated 18 March 2002 and the 

Respondent's employment was terminated with effect from 18 March 2002. 

[29] The next question - for this Court is to determine whether the summary 

dismissal was wrong. It is apparent that the Respondent was not given 

notice nor did he receive any payment in lieu of notice. The termination 

letter made no mention of notice or payment in lieu of notice and there was 

no admission in the agreed facts set out in the pre-trial conference minutes. 

Under those circumstances the dismissal was wrong unless the Appellants 

established that there was misconduct on the part of the Respondent that 

amounted to a breach of a serious term of the contract or a repudiation of 

the ,contract which entitled Shell to terminate the contract summarily. 

[30) The right of an employer to summarily dismiss an employee at common law 

has been modified in Fiji by statute. At the relevant time, section 28 of the 

Employment Act Cap 92 (now repealed) stated: 
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"2t5 /frii ern11--,P«-i'Jfi2P- sfnaP.P nor:- dffslfir11i'ss an O/ii!JlfJJloVcc 
SILffi!71mariUy except frii tho fofffoMring cin::wTisif:ances: 

(a) where an employee is guilty of misconduct 
inconsistent with the fulfillment of the express 
or implied conditions of his contract of service; 

(h) for willful disobedience to lmnrfuP orders given 
by the employer; 

[31] In the absence of a more generous term in an employee's contract of service, 

the summary dismissal of an employee will be wrong if it is inconsistent with 

the provisions of section 28. 

[32] In Fiii /P1t.Jlblic Servffce Association and Satish H<rumar -v- The 

Atrbitratffo011 Tribunal ao11d Atrmtherr (unreported Civil Appeal No. 13 of 1999 

delivered on 19 February 2002) the Fiji Court of Appeal said (approving the 

comments made by the judge at first instance) at page 10: 

11SeCU:fon 28 provided that an employer should not/: dismiss 
an employee summarily except in the circumstances 
specified therein. .... His /Lordship said that the section 
did not confer an unfettered right to dismiss an employee 
where any of the matte1·s specified in section 28 was found 
to exist, rather it removed the common law right to 
dismiss except where paragraphs (a) to (e) applied. He 
added that if any of the paragraphs applied, the common 
lal!fl right continued and there was no statutory or othe,­
objection to that· 1·ight being fettered by an agreement 
between the empHoyer and its employees." 

[33] The termination of employment by summary dismissal in this case will be 

wrong unless (a) the Respondent's misconduct fell within one of the 

circumstances listed in section 28 and (b) was of a sufficiently serious nature 

that it would entitle Shell to regard the contract of service as being at an 

end. 
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[:34] for the pu1po:oc 01 clcte1Tnining that issue il is only nr:::cesscffy to cor·,::;idcr the 

fast matter· (a) set out in section 28. That in tum fast requi1-es a 

determination as to the grnunds upon which Shell summarily dismissed the 

Respondent. 

[35] Upon a 1-eading of the judgment from parag1-aph 159 through to paragraph 

166, it is appa1-ent that the learned judge had concluded that the basis of the 

decision to summarily dismiss the Respondent was his failure to provide an 

explanation when requested to do so. In paragraph 166, the judge stated: 

"IH71 fi:!hle presetrDt e::illse, Uce plafr»tffff was onHy reqMffred t/:o 
sli.J/hmill: expffa11rnatfotrn, wffmtl" !hlappened to t!hle 20, Oi.U}) litres off' 
missiH119 ftu1eU. 7/"hetre was nw affffegatfrnN thaU.: he was 91LJ1ilty of 
fnu11dMUently delivering; foe! to Ba Service Stai:ion. In 1ny 
view, t/hJe PiaitroUff's foiffure tto reply enti!'ffed t/hJe defendant 
tJ:o t·elf"n1111inate ·"U.:/hJe plaintiff's employmen'U: provided the 
defeu11dmr»tt gave ttffve piain11i:iff a g:nroper ruJU:ice of ~·ermination. 
ln1 my assessme1o'ft this was nott a p:,tropetr case which 
treq/J..Hffred insfl:anU: S/l/lU11UK11i!li"]f dismissal as compared U:lfP 
serfrnus cases such as assa/Uln .... In the present case tff»e 
/Plaintiff was orniy reu:g,uitredl t!:o provide answers il:o 
questions, which in my view was noil: a serious allegation 
for instant: dismissal. 1 U:ooP, note of the fact that the 
deferularnt was not!: required to give the /Plaintiff any reason 
tto t!:ermirmtl:e his employment, since the plaintiff was not 
4:1mployed on contract basis even Uu:wg/hJ tthe letter of 
termin"natfon refetrrecff tto cm11itractt of employmetr11fl:. ,r 

[36] We note that under section 13(1) of the Employment Act it was provided that 

"No person shaHU employ any empfoyee and/ no employee 
shall be employed under any contrac'i: of service except in 
m::cordance with the pn:wisions of this Act." 

[37] It did not appear to be disputed that the Respondent was an employee 

employed under a contract of service. Under the Employment Act, all 

contracts of service are either oral or written contracts. It was perhaps, 

therefore, an oversight on the part of the learned judge when he noted that 
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comments were intendecl to indicate that the Respondent was not employed 

on a fixed term basis. 

[38] Howeve1- the mo1-e important issue is the learned judge's conclusion as to the 

basis of the decision taken by Shell to tem1inate the Respondent's 

employment. In that regard we conside1- that it is necessary to have 1-egard 

to the contents of the letter· dated 26 February 2002 to the Respondent and 

the contents of the termination let1:e1- dated 18 Mai-ch 2002. 

[39] In the lette1- dated 26 February 2002 (the fi1·st letter) it is clea1-ly stated the 

investigation revealed that a list of fuel delivery shortages were confinT1ed on 

the day on which the Respondent was the nominated driver. The letter also 

stated that there was overwhelming evidence to confirm the Respondent's 

involvement in the fraudulent delivery process. Three specific instances 

involving the Respondent were then detailed. 

[ 40] The respondent was then advised that he had two weeks to refute these 

cha1·ges and to demonstrate why his contract should not be terminated. 

[ 41] It was not disputed that the Respondent did not attempt to refute the specific 

instances of fraudulent delivery and nor did he attempt to demonstrate why 

his contract should not be terminated because of his confirmed involvement 

in the th1·ee instances of fraudulent delivery. The Solicitor's letter dated 28 

February 2002 certainly did not attempt to provide any explanation. It 

contained a blanket denial. Hence the letter dated 18 March 2002 that 

informed the Respondent that his employment was terminated with 

immediate effect. 

[ 42] We cannot agree with the conclusion that the Respondent's employment was 

tei-minated because he failed to provide a written explanation. In ou1- opinion 

the Respondent's employment was terminated on account of his confirmed 

involvement in fraudulent fuel deliveries. By failing to respond within the 
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tirm:: ~,pecified it wa::~ pn~surned, cH1ci rightly so, that there was no 1·easo11able 

explanation fo1- the Respondent's involvement in the l:h1-ee instances of 

fraudulent fuel delivery that had been specified in the letter- dated 26 

February 2002. 

[43] We therefore also conclude that this misconduct was inconsistent with the 

fulfillment of both an express and an implied condition of the Respondent's 

contract of service and was of a sufficiently serious natur-e for Shell to ti-eat 

the contract of service as being at: an end. We therefore conclude that the 

summary dismissal was not in cont1-avention of section 28. Under these 

circumstances the Respondent was not entitled to notice of ten-nination nor 

was he entitled to payment of wages in lieu of notice. 

[ 44] The Respondent submitted that the1-e was no evidence to substantiate the 

Respondent's involvement in the instances of fraudulent delivery set out in 

the letter dated 26 Febi-uary 2002. 

[ 45] Howeve1- Shell's conclusion as to the Respondent's involvement was based on 

the result of its investigation. The agreed bundle of documents in the Court 

Record included documents that were the subject of the investigation. On 

the investigation, the learned trial judge stated at paragraph 15: 

"The dietem:!lant (Shell) diJJimed fl:ha't afteu- receiving seveu-al 
complairnf·s from its customers for short supplies of fuel, it 
appoint·ed iits auditors to conduct an investigation irn the 
short supply of fuel by the Plaintiff to PWD Rakiralii. There 
was evidence that PWD conducted its own itr»quiries for 
short supplies of fuel to Rakiraki depot. There were 
innumen·able photocopied computer-generated documents 
armexed to the bundle of documents teuulered as 
evidernce." 

[46] Then at paragraph 18 of his judgment, the learned judge noted: 
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"<C:ir1uu-,1se2U for #.°!hK:: /Plai"m7:ift' s1L11/,':mrniU.:ed (haii: Use nmr8sHg1r;11l.iwn: 
i~gainsf!.: his c17iienf was iflawedr il:P11e outcmne was 
unacceptabler i:he evidence was contan1inated by improper 
accounting metfaods and principles and t·he report laclced 
authenticity." 

[ 47] However; having considered the material and having listened to and having 

observed the witnesses, the learned judge concluded at paragraph 161: 

"The !Plaintiff failed b:; provide any explanation iJril writinfr 
cr.::mcerning the above two claims made against /him. I 
considered that the defendant's request for explanation 
was reasonable, when it was alleged that the defendant 
short supplied fa.oel to IPWD /Rakiraki. I considered! that the 
Plaintiff should have provided some explanation irn wri'tiTDfir 
whiclhi !Jne failed tto do.,, 

[ 48] To have reached this conclusion the judge must have been satisfied on the 

evidence before him that the investigation conducted by Shell provided 

sufficient grounds for the conclusion that the Respondent had been involved 

in fraudulent short supply of fuel and that he should have been given an 

opportunity to explain that involvement. 

[ 49] We see no reason why we should reach a different conclusion from that 

which the trial judge a1Tived at. This Court did not have the opportunity to 

hear the evidence of the witnesses and is therefore not in a position to 

assess what weight should be given to the written material and the 

documents that were tendered in evidence at the trial. That was a matter 

entirely for the trial judge. We therefore accept that the1·e was sufficient 

material from the investigation to enable Shell to conclude that the 

Respondent had been involved in fraudulent short supply of fuel to its 

customers and that he should have been given an opportunity to explain that 

involvement before taking further action against him. 

[50] However, that is not necessarily the end of the matter. Under section 29 of 

the Employment Act, the Respondent having been summarily dismissed for 
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the time of his dismissal. 

[5 l] The correspondence indicated that the Respondent had been suspended 

without pay with effect from 13 Febi-uary 2002. There was no material 

before the learned judge that would indicate that the1·e was a contJ·actual 

right to suspend the Rl~spondent without pay. 

[52] In the absence of any deduction authorised by section 5:L of the Employment 

Act, the Respondent should have received his wages up until the date of the 

termination of his employment. If he was not paid wages between 13 

February and 18 March 2002 and the1·e does not appea1· to be any evidence 

to that effect, then this Cou1-1: orde1-s acco1-dingly. We accept the calculation 

submitted by the Respondent's Counsel on page 251 of the Reco1·d in the 

sum of $1730.00 (i.e. 5 weeks x $346.00 pe1- week). 

[53] As the learned trial judge noted in par-agraph 158 of his judgment the nature 

of the pleading in the claim fo1· wrongful dismissal was inadequate. The 

Respondent pleaded in paragraph 10 that he had been unlawfully dismissed. 

As previously noted the dismissal will be unlawful or wrong if it is 

inconsistent with either the terms of the contract or with the provisions of the 

Employment Act. The Court has considered the summary dismissal of the 

Respondent in relation to the Employment /::;.ct. 

[54] In Centraff Mmusforcltl/.uu-ing Compamy Umitted -v- Vashtnff /Kan~­

(unreported Civil Appeal No. 10 of 2002 delivered on 23 October 2003) the 

Fiji Supreme Cou1-t stated that "there is an implied term in the modern 

conti-act of employment that requires an employer to deal fairly with an 

employee, even in the context of dismissal" (see page 21 of that decision). 

The Court described this obligation as a duty that extends to treating an 

employee fairly, and with appropriate respect and dignity, in carrying out the 

dismissal. Where the dismissal is ca1-ried out in a manne1· that is 

unnecessarily humiliating and distressing, there is no reason in principle, the 
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to have occu1Ted. 

[55] The decision does not mean that there is in the contract of employme11t an 

implied term that the dismissal must be fair (since wrongful dismissal is not 

the same as unfai1· dismissal) but rather that in the process of dismissing the 

employee, that employee should be treated fai1·ly in the sense that he should 

not be unnecessarily humiliated 01· caused unnecessa1·y distress. It does not 

mean that an employe1· is required to consider a previous· good reco1-d of 

service 01· any length of service. 

[56] In the ff(aui/t o.J1se (supra), the Supreme Cou1·t considered that the 

unnecessary use of security and the prevention of access to his office 

amounted to public humiliation of the employee in the process of his 

dismissal and constituted a b1·each of the implied term. Damages were 

awarded. 

[57] In the p1·esent case the1·e was evidence before the trial judge that would lead 

this Court to conclude that Shell had behaved in a manner that would 

amount to a breach of the implied term. This evidence is to be found in the 

letter dated 26 February 2002. We refer to the following passage: 

"Ji: a,Uso putts yodJ/U- dlaughfer's employment wU/h ShePH at 
risk, and depevuJil/1!g mJ/ yourr response, SlhePU resetrves 'lt/J-ne 
right to exercise tetrmirmtforn." 

There was no matei-ial before the Court below to suggest that the 

Respondent's daughter was in any way involved in the issue of fraudulent 

delivery of fuel. 

[58] The reference to the Respondent's daughter was completely inappropriate. 

We consider that this part of the letter breached the implied tet·m in the 

sense that any father would have been greatly distressed by such a threat 

being made to a blameless daughter. Although for entirely different reasons 
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breach. 

[59 On this aspect of the appeal, the decision of the Court below is to be varied 

and the Respondent is to be awa1-ded $1730.00 together with interest at 6% 

as special damages and $10,000.00 general damages with inte1-est at 6%. 

[60] We now tum to the Respondent's Notice and his contention that the 

judgment should be va1-ied to allow the claim fo1- damages for defamation. 

The Respondent's Notice challenged the findings of the trial judge in relation 

to (a) publication, (b) the p1-inciples to be applied .in determining whether the 

Respondent was defamed, ( c) the defence of qualified privilege and ( d) his 

assessment of the evidence. 

[61] Dealing first with publication. We accept that in the pre-trial confe1-ence 

minutes there was agreement between the parties that the Appellants had 

published the words in the memorandum dated 13 Feb1-uary 2002 sent to all 

staff by e-mail. The learned trial judge found that the Respondent had failed 

to establish publication since the Respondent did not call evidence from any 

employee of receipt of o,- having read the e-mail. 

[62] However, in view of the admission as to publication, it was not necessary for· 

the Respondent to call such evidence. 

[63] We are satisfied that the lette1- dated 26 February was ,-eceived by Inoke as a 

cc addressee. He acknowledged receipt of the letter in his evidence. The 

Appellants agreed that the letter had been published. We consider that the 

admission goes no further than an admission that Inoke received and read 

the letter. Inoke was Shell's manage1- at Vuda Point. He was another 

employee of Shell. 

[64] There was no evidence before the court below to suggest that any person 

other than the Respondent as addressee or Inoke as cc addressee had read 
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1:lic lci:i:u. 

employee of Shell. He was at the time the Ope1-ations Manage,-. The only 

other witness called by the Respondent at the trial, Reverend S I< Singh, 

stated that he had 110 knowledge of the existence or the contents of the 

lette1- dated 26 Feb1-ua1-y 2002. 

[65) Whilst there is no doubt that publication need only be to one peI-son fo1- the 

Plaintiff to seek damages for defamation, the particular circumstances of this 

case do 1-aise an issue that is ,-elated to publication. 

[66] This issue was the subject of some discussion in /Rirr:J,dfffdt -v·- 1Thai111111es 

13oatrdl MW!s [1977) 1 QB 891. The facts were simila1·. In that case the 

Plaintiff began employment as a. shift engineer with the defendant company. 

Alter doubts about his ability he was dismissed some 18 months late1- for 

failure to do his job satisfacto1-ily. Following a complaint from the Plaintiff's 

Solicitors, the Chief Pe1-sonne.l Manager (A) at the defendant's head office 

asked a colleague (B) to ascertain the facts about the dismissal. In a 

memo1-andum B reported to A the results of his investigation. The 

memorandum 1·eferred to the Plaintiff not having been up to the demands of 

the job, to his known instability and to his being highly strung and unsure of 

himself. The memo1-andum had been typed by B's secretary who handed it 

to A. /\ read it and filed it. 

[67] The Plaintiff issued a writ claiming damages for defamation based on the 

memorandum. At the trial it was accepted that the memorandum had not 

been read by anyone other than A, B and B's secretary who had typed it. 

The juI-y found the words in the memorandum to be defamatory and 

malicious. The Plaintiff was awarded damages. 

[68] The defendant company appealed. For reasons that are not relevant to this 

appeal, the appeal was allowed. However the Court of Appeal also discussed 

the question of publication. Lord Denning MR in particular expressed strong 

views on the subject. At page 893 he stated: 

20 



"A master shouffd not be held liable for reports made to 
him by one of his servants about i:he com:Juci" of another 
servantr even tho1Ugh it is in the co/Urse of the employment. 
/8ut what is the legal basis of it? 

Accon:Jing to one theorJlr the master is liable for the acts of 
his senrcants because they are regarded as being 
auUwrised by him : so fi:haf· ifr» Paw the acts off the servant 
are U»e acts of the mastl:er. 

JU' tthad: ftheon·y were ito be appffied Ito infter-depm·tmentaU 
memm·m11dar then ii!: wo11.JIUd folfow thadl: fl:fh,e acil: of t!hle one 
ser1vanf' in maldng the report wou.JJUd be t/hJe acff: of the 
masfl:er: and tthe act of tine ofl:heu- servant in receivfrog ifl: and 
reading off.· woll.!lld also be the ad· of the master. So iii: would 
be i11I1 law 'U:he master 1-na/kfrug a pulblica,tffm11 to himself. No 
orroe can be made lffalbffe for a ff ilbeff pu!bffis!hed orroffy to 
hiu1111self; amy motre the/TH a mam is liable foD' wrrifl:i!i»fjf a 
dledfamatt@rry letter and lf.eepitrng ifl: in hff.s dlesfff,. s!howi1111g if' to 
fl'Ni[))-/[J!!l]f-J. 

That is an atttracttive theory. 1 fcnow that i~· will not fit in 
wffrf:lh the cases where a company has been held liable for 
ffeUetrs dfotta'i:ed by a director to a typist. But i811 nwne of 
those cases was the pofrn'U: of p1!.!1blicaif:foN11 properly argued. 
So itt is. still permffssffbfo fl:heoryr arncff 1 woll.!lffd fotr mysefff 
audlopt it. '' 

And at page 895 Lord Denning in urging the acceptance of his solution stated 
that: 

" a masfl:eu- should trwfl: be liable for a confidential report 
maJde by orne of his servants about amotherr eve111J f:hough 
f:hat servaU1Jf· was mafficious in making it. Let the aggrieved 
senrant bring his action against the malicious servant who 
reported on him. Bui' do not· let him bring it against the 
mast·er who employs both of them and has done nothing 
Vtfrong." 
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1_69] 111 Uv_:; pi-(:;,;e11t apprc:c:1I, i:hc ll~ti.CI Wd'.; Wiii:i:cn by i:lll CiTlJiloycc,: ;::md cc copied 

to a11othe1· employee for his informatio11 as manager at Vuda Point. 

[70] We see no reason why the opinion of Lord Denning should not apply to the 

facts of this case. In both cases company co1-respondence concerning one 

employee was w1·itten by anothe1- employee and passed to a third employee, 

all in the cou1-se of the employment of the three employees. 

[71] Although we have taken a particula,- view about publication concerning the 

letter dated 26 February 2002, we shall proceed to consider the issues of 

imputation and qualified p1·ivilege in relation to this letter later in the 

judgment. 

[72] Returning to the contents of the e-mail dated 13 Februa1·y 2002. The learned 

trial judge came to the conclusion that an ordinary 1·ec1cle1· would not conside1· 

the contents of the e-mail to be defarnato1·y of the Plaintiff. He stated that 

the document was nothing mo1·e than prnviding info1·mation to employees 

that the fou,- d1·ivers were under investigation. The judge found that the 

words used in the e-mail did not give rise to any of the imputations that were 

alleged by the Respondent. 

[73] Upon a close examination of its contents, it is clear that its purpose is to do 

no more than to inform employees that the Respondent is one of three 

drivers who have been suspended pending an on-going investigation into the 

non-delivery of fuel orders to specific customers. The word fraudulent did 

not appear in the memorandum 

[74] The question for· the trial judge to determine was what was the likely effect 

of the words used upon the view taken of the Respondent by right-thinking 

readers. In the context of the work place the e-mail to the employees was 

IH~ely to do no more than explain why the three drivers were no longer at 

work. The passage of such information would put to rest any speculation or 

rumour that might otherwise adve1·sely affect work performance. 
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l/'.J] We ,i~J1cc vviU1 the k"alTH~c, tiial Juclgc:' tlial: the word:" u::;ec:1 i1·1 the c-rrkiil clo 

not give rise to any of the imputations claimecl by the Respondent and we:Te 

the,-efore not clefamatory of him. 

[76] Turning now to the lette,- dated 26 Februa,-y 2002. Once again, the learnecl 

juclge concluded that the Respondent failed to establish any of the five 

imputations against the Appellants. 

[77] On a fair reacling of the lette,-, it is reasonable to conclude that a right­

minded reader would have concluded that (a) so fa,- as the Respondent was 

concerned, the investigation had been completed, (b) fuel shortages had 

been uncovered on days when the Respondent was the nominated drive,-, ( c) 

some deliveries to customers ( othe,- than PWD) had not been delivered in 

full, (d) the1-e was overwhelming evidence of the Respondent's involvement, 

( e) the Respondent was responsible for fraudulent delivery in three specified 

instances, (f) the Respondent was involved in fraudulent delivery of fuel to 

custome,-s and (g) as a result the Respondent's employment would be 

terminated unless the charges were satisfactorily refuted. 

[78] We cannot ag1-ee with the findings of the learned trial judge. In our opinion 

it is an inescapable conclusion that any right-minded person reading. the 

lette,- could reasonably be expected to have concluded that the Respondent 

had committed acts involving the dishonest and fraudulent delivery of fuel 

(imputation 1). The letter clearly states that Shell has evidence that the 

Respondent was involved in these activities and listed three instances as 

examples with the added comment that there were other instances that were 

not detailed in the letter. 

[79] In our opinion a right-minded person reading the lette1- could reasonably be 

expected to think of the Respondent as a person who could not be trusted 

and was a person who was not worthy to be employed as a servant. We 

therefore conclude that the words are capable of having the meaning set out 

in imputations 2 ancl 3. 
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l80] We clo not consider tl1,:ii: irn1Jut:atio1b 4 ;:inci ~.:_; l1c1v0~ IJee::11 cs•i:alJlishecl. The1·e is 

no material in the letter that would enable a 1-ight-minclecl pe1-son to conclude 

that the Respondent was part of a conspiracy which is a technical legal word. 

Similarly, the1-e is insufficient material in the lette,- to enable a right-minded 

person to conclude that the Respondent's misconduct necessa1-ily satisfied all 

the matters that needed to be established for the commission of criminal 

acts. This imputation is directed to the assertion that the Respondent had 

committed offences under the criminal law. That is not necessarily an 

imputation that could reasonably be drawn by a right-minded reade1-. 

[Sl] We therefo1-e find that the words used in the letter dated 26 February 2002 

were defamatory of the Respondent in 1-espect of imputations 1 - 3. 

[82] The learned trial judge indicated in his judgment that in the event that the 

Respondent had established any of the imputations, he would have found 

that the defence of qualified privilege applied. 

[83] In view of ou1- findings in ,-elation to the material in the e-mail dated 13 

February 2002, we do not conside,- it necessary to consider the applicability 

of the defence to the publication of the words in the e-mail. 

[84] In relation to the letter dated 26 February 2002, the following particulars 

were pleaded in the defence that the letter was sent to Inoke on an occasion 

of qualified privilege: 

"(a) The said Jettl:er was made frn discharge of the duty to 
puf· i:he affffegatfons contl:airned therein to C-he Plaintiff 
and 'i:o fruvH.:e the Plain(tiff 'i:o respond to tu-»e said 
allegation. 

(b) Im the premises the Defendants had a duty and/or 
interest in writing and sending the said letter to the 
said Rupeni Inolce and the Defendants wrote and 
sent the said letter pursuani: to the said duty and/ or 
interest and the said Rupeni lnolce had a 
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[85) At paragraph 153 of his judgment the trial judge noted that at the hearing 

Counsel for the Appellants established the defence by corroborative evidence 

from Inoke. The judge indicated that he accepted Inoke as a credible 

witness. 

[86] His Lo,-dship found that the,-e was evidence that the letter was p1-epared and 

sent to the manage,- Shell Ltd, \/uda in the ordinary course of Shell's 

business ope1-ations. He considered that the contents of the letter made it 

abundantly clea,- that the maker (Filipe) had a duty to inforn1 the (cc) 

recipient (Inoke) of the conduct of the Respondent. The judge found that the 

recipient (Inoke) equally had the legal entitlement to receive the letter in the 

ordinary management of Shell's business. The judge also accepted that the 

information contained in the lettei- directly related to the ope1-ation and 

management of Shell's business. He stated that if the material had been of a 

private nature, it would not be protected by the defence of qualified privilege. 

The lette,- had not been issued to a private person or an outsider. 

[87] The nature of the defence is described by the learned authors of "Gatley OITO 

/LibeU au11d Slatru:ffetr" 11 th Edition at page 437 in the following terms: 

"7/lnere are cin::LDmsttances in which on grounds of public 
policy and convenience ... iil person may yet, without!: 
incurring liabilil'y for defomaticm, make statements of fact 
a/bout another which are defamatory and in fact untrue. 
...• Protectio1111 was granted if the statement was "fairly 
warranted by the occasion" and so long as it was noi' 
shown by the person defamed that the sf·atement was 
made with malice, i.e. with some indirect· or improper 
motive, which was typically established by proof that t·he 
defendanr· knew the statement!: to be untrue or was 
recl<lessly indifferent C.-o i'i:s t'ruth. r, 
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1_8f3] Thi'.:; categor·y of qualiiiccl privilcuc neecls to be clistinsJuishecl fron1 another 

categor·y which cove,-s ,-eports to the public at la1-ge of certain n,atters of 

legitimate concern to them such as the proceedings of Courts or Parliaments. 

The learned authors of Gatley state at page 439 that the decision in 

Revnofo7s -11- Times News(Qapetrs Ltd [2001] 2 AC 127 provided a much 

more extensive prntection fo1- publications to the public at la1-ge whe1-e the 

matter is of sufficient public concern. 

[89] In this appeal, the defence arises in the limited category founded on a 

relationship. Lord Atkinson in Ald/ti3Jm 'lln Wand! [1917] AC 309 at page 334 

stated: 

"A pu-ffvff Ueg;ed oa:xasfo!i11 is a1rn occasfol!JJ where the pe11·sm11 
w/tw maHces a commDJ1/i1/HCillU:foru has iJ/D'il ff,rotteres(tr 011· a !17QJ/fl]lr 

UegaU, sociaU ou· mcnraff, tto 0117/ake it tto fl:he petrso1/1'P to whom ffrt­
ff:s mad/er and/ tthe petrsolril fto whom ffa: ff.'!.£ so made has a 
CtfJJtru-esp@nding iintetres(· «JR' duty tto receffve it Tff»4:~ 
tredptrodty is esseur,tfoffn '' 

[90] We ag1-ee with the learned judge that this was a case whe1-e Filipe as 

operntions manager was under a duty to inform Inoke about the involvement 

of the Respondent in the fraudulent delivery of fuel to customers. We are 

also satisfied that Inoke had a corresponding duty or interest to receive it in 

the performance of his management duties at Vuda Point. We also accept 

this to be the position even though there was no evidence to the effect that 

Inoke had requested this information. 

[91] We have concluded that there was no errnr by the trial judge in his 

conclusion that the defence applied. We also note that he found that the 

Respondent did not submit any evidence of malice. We see no reason to 

disturb that finding. In addition to the view we have taken about publication 

of the letter dated 26 February, we do in any event confirm the t1-ial judge's 

conclusion that it was written on an occasion of qualified privilege. 
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[92] As a result we make·the following rHders: 

1. The Appellants' appeal is allowed in part. We set aside the order 
for special damages in the sum of $482.22. 

2. We also allow the Respondent's cross appeal in part. We award 
the sum of $1730.00 together with interest at 6%. 

3. We confirm the award of $10,000.00 as general damages 
together with interest at 6%. 

4. The amounts in paragraphs 2 and 3 are awarded fo1- different 
reasons from the decision of the court below. 

5. Otherwise the appeal and the cross appeal are dismissed. 

6. As both parties were partially successful, we make no orders as 
to costs. 

Calanchini, JA 

Solicitors: 

Sherani & Co for the Appellants 

Sahu Khan & Sahu Khan for the Respondent 
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